2001

James G. Clawson and Joan M. Clawson, his wife;
Tex R. Oldsen and Monna Lee Olsen, his wife; and
Ken Chamberlain and Jeannine W. Chamberlain,
his wife v. Bruce L. Moesser and Ruth Anne
Moesser, husband and wife : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action to quiet title to certain real property located in Sanpete County, State of Utah. Both Appellants and Respondents have claimed legal title in the property.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was heard by the Honorable Don V. Tibbs, District Judge for the District Court of Sanpete County, State of Utah. The matter came on before the court on the 16th day of January, 1974, at Manti, County of Sanpete, State of Utah, on Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Plaintiffs (R. 9) and by the Defendants (R. 74), each representing that there are no disputed issues of fact, and each of which motions was supported by affidavits, documentary exhibits, and supporting briefs. The court granted plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and denied Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. The court also held that the redemption by C. H. Spaulding was valid and terminated the rights of Walker Bank under their trust deed and foreclosure proceedings. The Plaintiff was further ordered to reimburse Defendant for the amounts Defendant had paid on 1973 property taxes on the subject property (R. 97).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-Appellants seek reversal of the judgment entered by the lower court against them and seek judgment in their favor as a matter of law, and an order of the court quieting title to the property in the Defendants-Appellants, hereinafter referred to as Appellants, and against the Plaintiffs-Respondents, hereinafter referred to as Respondents.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The property in question is located in Sanpete County, and is described as follows:

"The N.E. $\frac{1}{4}$ and the E. $\frac{1}{2}$ of the S.E. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 31, Township 15 So. Range 15 E., Salt Lake Base and Meridian, Containing 240 Acres."

The property is sometimes described as the following lots under the recorded plat of Spring City Rancheros:

"Lots 1 through 6; 8 through 12; 14 through 17; 19 through 22; 24; 25; 29 through 32; and 37 through 44, all numbers inclusive."

Stanley Title Co. held fee simple title in the subject property, and on October 1, 1965 conveyed title to C. H. Spaulding and Mid-Continent Construction Co. (R. 44).

Mid-Continent Construction Co. conveyed a warranty deed for Lot No. 2 to the Nielsons on September 6, 1966 (R. 45).

Two days later, Mid-Continent Construction Co. entered into a trust deed agreement with Walker Bank and Trust Co., on September 8, 1966, with Mid-Continent Construction Co. as the trustor and Walker Bank and Trust Co. as the trustee, and beneficiary (R. 46).

On April 10, 1969, the Clawsons had executed on a judgment against C. H. Spaulding, and a Sheriff's sale was had on the property at which time the Clawsons purchased the subject property (R. 50).

On July 25, 1969, a "Lis Pendens" was filed by Walker Bank and Trust Co. against C. H. Spaulding, Mid-Continent Construction Co., and the Clawsons, to prevent any further action being taken until Walker Bank & Trust Co.'s foreclosure proceedings against C. H. Spaulding, Mid-Continent Construction Co. and the Clawsons had been concluded (R. 52).

On the basis of the Clawsons' purchase at the previous Sheriff's sale, on October 16, 1969 a sheriff's deed was conveyed to the Clawsons for the subject property, (R. 54), which conveyance took place after Walker Bank's foreclosure had begun.

On October 25, 1969, the Clawsons entered into a stipulation with Walker Bank and Trust Co. whereby the Clawsons stipulated that Walker Bank and Trust Co.'s trust deed had priority over any claim the Clawsons might have to the subject property (R. 56).

On November 6, 1969, a judgment was filed in the foreclosure proceedings in favor of Walker Bank and Trust Co., and against C. H. Spaulding, Mid-Continent Construction Co., *and the Clawsons* (R. 15).

Pursuant to the judgment and the foreclosure proceedings by Walker Bank and Trust Co., on December 30, 1969 a Sheriff's sale was conducted on the subject property, and the property was sold to Keith McArthur (R. 20).

On January 22, 1970, a deficiency judgment was entered in favor of Walker Bank & Trust Co. and

against C. H. Spaulding, Mid-Continent Construction Co., and the Clawsons, the deficiency judgment being based on the previous foreclosure proceedings (R. 21).

C. H. Spaulding redeemed from the Sheriff's sale to Keith McArthur on June 30, 1970 (R. 23).

On July 28, 1971 the Clawsons, Olsens, and Chamberlains conveyed to James Clawson, Tex Olsen and Ken Chamberlain by quit claim deed (R. 66).

On February 12, 1973, Walker Bank and Trust Co. executed on their deficiency judgment based on the trust deed foreclosure proceedings against C. H. Spaulding, Mid-Continent Construction Co. and the Clawsons, and the Moessers purchased the subject property at the sheriff's sale on March 21, 1973. Six months later on September 24, 1973, a Sheriff's deed was conveyed to the Moessers, granting them title in fee simple to the subject property (R. 25, 27, 32).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THAT THE FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS INSTITUTED BY WALKER BANK AND TRUST CO. DISCHARGED ALL RIGHTS AND ENCUMBRANCES OF THE RESPONDENTS IN THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

Both by stipulation and by law, at the time of the Walker Bank foreclosure suit against Spaulding, Mid-

Continent Construction Co., and the Clawsons; Walker Bank had an interest in the subject property superior to that of the Respondents. On October 25, 1969, Olsen and Chamberlain, as counsel for Respondents, filed a stipulation in the District Court of Sanpete County, Utah, in the case bearing Civil No. 5857, stating as follows:

“Come now the defendants, James G. Clawson and Joan M. Clawson, and by and through their attorney, Tex R. Olsen, do hereby stipulate that the plaintiffs’ trust deed has priority over any right, title or interest of said defendants in said property and the interest of the defendant was acquired subsequent to the filing of said instrument by the plaintiff. Stipulated to this 25th day of October, A.D., 1969.” (R. 56).

This stipulation signed and filed by Respondents effectively placed them in a position subordinate to that of Walker Bank and Trust Co. relating to the subject property. *When Walker Bank foreclosed on its mortgage, by law all rights of the Respondents were effectively discharged concerning the subject property.* This is the law as cited at 59 C.J.S., *Mortgages* Section 523:

“It is generally held that a complete and valid foreclosure discharges all rights, claims, mortgages, or other encumbrances acquired subsequent to the date of the mortgage foreclosed . . . and it has been held that the lien of the junior encumbrancer is not destroyed, but . . . is transferred from the land to the surplus foreclosure fund.”

The same fate meets liens other than those created by

mortgages, as is explained at 59 *C.J.S.*, *Mortgages* Section 800:

“As a general rule, the lien of a junior encumbrance, cut off by the foreclosure of a mortgage, is transferred in equity to the surplus foreclosure fund . . . the foregoing rules have been held to apply not only to the case of a junior mortgagee but also to a junior creditor by judgment, execution, or attachment. . . .”

It is the law in the State of Utah that a junior encumbrancer who is joined and properly served in an action by a senior mortgagee to foreclose his mortgage, loses all claims against the subject property. In *Cowan v. Stoker*, 100 Ut. 377, 115 P.2d 153 (1941), the Utah Supreme Court decided that the appellant, a junior mortgagee, could not receive certain surplus monies derived from a foreclosure proceeding which had been instituted by the senior mortgagee. In its decision, the court stated:

“A junior mortgagee who is joined and properly served in an action by a senior mortgagee to foreclose his mortgage, whether or not he appears or pleads, is bound by the decree of foreclosure *and may not thereafter assert a claim against said mortgaged property.*” [citations omitted] *Id.* at 154 (Emphasis added).

The court held that the lien of the junior encumbrancer was effectively discharged by the foreclosure on the senior encumbrance, and then continued to explain the proper procedure that a junior encumbrancer should follow:

“Upon foreclosure of the senior mortgage the lien of the junior mortgagee attaches to the surplus of the proceeds of the foreclosure sale. [Citations omitted]” *Id.* at 154.

The court then directed its attention to the question of whether the appellant had adopted the proper procedure for asserting its claim for the surplus funds—*not for the subject property*—in the courts.

In the recent Oregon decision of *Call v. Jeremiah*, 246 Ore. 568, 425 P.2d 502 (1967), the Oregon court quoted with approval the above-cited language of the Utah Supreme Court, and reaffirmed that decision. Referring back to the Oregon court’s decision in *Ulrich v. Lincoln Realty*, 180 Ore. 380, 175 P.2d 149 (1946), also cited in Respondents’ Brief the court said:

“Plaintiffs misconceived the purpose of foreclosure proceedings and the effect of the foreclosure decree. The effect of the foreclosure decree is not simply to extinguish the interest of the mortgagee bringing the suit—it is *designed to extinguish all interests which are subordinate to the foreclosing mortgagee’s interest.*” *Id.* at 504 (*Emphasis added and by the court*).

In the present situation, then, it must be held that the foreclosure of the senior mortgage—which mortgage was superior under the terms of the 1969 stipulation—effectively extinguished all rights of the Clawsons or their successors in the property. The court went on to describe the position of one who purchases at the sheriff’s sale or redeems, such as Spaulding, in relation to a junior encumbrancer, such as the Clawsons and Olsens.

“...the judgment or decree therein destroys his (the junior encumbrancer’s) lien, and upon the expiration of the time for redemption, the purchaser is entitled to the property free from the lien. The subsequent mortgagor or lienor is remitted to the fund realized in the foreclosure proceedings. . . .” *Id.* at 504.

The same rule was followed, and the Utah *Stoker* decision, *supra*, was cited as authority, in the recent case of *In Re Castillian Apartments, Inc.*, 281 N.C. 709, 190 S.E. 2d 161, 162 (1972).

As previously stated, the rule which extinguishes a junior encumbrance upon the foreclosure proceedings on a senior encumbrance applies also to executions, attachments and other types of junior encumbrances apart from mortgages. Therefore, at the time that Walker Bank foreclosed its mortgage, Respondents’ rights to the subject property were effectively discharged and Respondents had to look for any satisfaction on their debt to the surplus foreclosure fund. Any interest that the Clawsons may have had in the subject property as a junior encumbrancer to Walker Bank was effectively extinguished by Walker Bank’s foreclosure action, to which Respondents were joined (R. 15).

Also, in cases where the mortgagor redeems and the junior encumbrancer fails to redeem, as occurred here (R. 23), there is a large body of case law to the effect that:

“The lien of a junior mortgage is lost by the failure of a junior mortgagee, a party to the proceed-

ing, to redeem from the foreclosure of the senior mortgage, and . . . such lien does not again become a lien on the property, on the mortgage debtor's redemption from the senior mortgage."

59 *C.J.S., Mortgages* Section 875 (c).

The claim of the Clawsons would, therefore, be lost as of the date of Spaulding's redemption from the foreclosure sale.

POINT II.

THAT THE REDEMPTION BY C. H. SPAULDING WAS VALID AND VESTED TITLE TO THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IN HIM, AS WAS HELD BY THE DISTRICT COURT.

Appellants do not question the finding of the court, as expressed in the court's Order of February 4, 1974, that the redemption by C. H. Spaulding was a valid redemption (R. 97). Under the law, Spaulding was entitled to redeem from the Sheriff's sale, 59 *C.J.S., Mortgages* Section 819 (b), states, concerning redemption statutes,

"... the construction in any case of doubt or ambiguity should be in favor of the right to redeem and to the end that the property of the debtor may pay as many of his debts as possible. . . ."

Respondents claim at page 5 of the lower court Memorandum (R 82) that no re-sale for a deficiency judg-

ment can take place if the property was redeemed by the Clawsons. But the property in this case was not redeemed by the Clawsons; it was redeemed by Spaulding, the mortgagor (R 23, 97). The Clawsons made no attempt to redeem, and subsequently forfeited any alleged rights they may have had in the property. Therefore, the property may be resold for the balance of the mortgage debt owing to Walker Bank.

Spaulding's redemption was a valid redemption, and vested title to the property in him. The redemption by Spaulding should be held valid as against the Respondents for the following reasons:

1. The redemption met the statutory requirements as set out in Rule 69 (f) of the *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*;

2. Spaulding was the mortgagor of the property redeemed;

3. Spaulding was a named defendant in the foreclosure action brought by Walker Bank (R 15);

4. The stipulation between Walker Bank and the Clawsons gave any priority to the interest held by Walker Bank in the property, including any interest in a deficiency judgment;

5. The Clawsons failed to make any attempt towards redeeming the property, thereby waiving all rights to the property;

6. Even if Spaulding had *not* been entitled to re-

deem, the acceptance of his payment by the foreclosure sale purchaser barred any claims by Respondents:

“Also, the liens of all those junior encumbrancers or judgment creditors who were parties to the suit and who might have redeemed but failed to do so have been held to be barred . . . it would seem, in case of redemption by one not authorized to redeem, when his payment is accepted as a redemption by the foreclosure sale purchaser.” 59 *C.J.S.*, *Mortgages* Section 875 (c); and

7. Spaulding was personally liable on the mortgage debt and therefore was an interested party able to redeem. Iowa law, on which Section 78-37-6 of the *Utah Code Annotated* is based, would seem applicable here. In *McLean v. Federal Land Bank of Omaha*, 130 F.2d 123 (8th Cir. Iowa, 1942), the court described the factual situation as follows:

“Here was such a [mortgage] debtor and had become personally liable for a deficiency of \$2,000.00 in consequence of this mortgage foreclosure. He had lost title through foreclosure of the second mortgage. The time for redemption as to the first mortgage had not expired when this petition was filed.” *Id.* at 128.

As will be observed, the factual situation is somewhat similar to that of the present case. The court went on to state:

“When the mortgaged land is sold by the debtor, a right of redemption passes to the buyer, but the debtor still has an equitable interest (arising from his liability for a deficiency judgment) which entitles him to intervene in a foreclosure action, and

a right of subrogation (as to redemption from a first mortgage) where deed has passed under foreclosure of a second mortgage. *It thus appears that the statute and decision law of Iowa recognizes an equity in the mortgage debtor in relation to the property and redemption, which equity exists even where he has parted with title, willingly, or through foreclosure of the junior mortgage.*" *Id.* at 127-8 (Emphasis added).

However, as the District Court stated in its Order, (R 97), the redemption by Spaulding was valid. The District Court erred by failing to recognize that the prior junior encumbrance of the Clawsons had been extinguished by the foreclosure proceedings and by the Clawsons' failure to redeem the property from the foreclosure sale.

POINT III. THAT REGARDLESS OF ANY INTERESTS OF RESPONDENTS IN THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AFTER THE FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS INSTITUTED BY WALKER BANK, WALKER BANK HAD THE RIGHT TO EXECUTE ON SPAULDING'S REDEEMED PROPERTY BY REASON OF ITS DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT.

Regardless of the priorities between the parties in the subject property, Walker Bank still had the right to execute on Spaulding's redeemed property as a junior lien holder at least. It is generally recognized law that a junior lien holder has the right to execute on his lien. Therefore, if after the Walker Bank deficiency judg-

ment was entered, Walker Bank assumed the position of a junior lien holder, subordinate to the interests of the Respondents in the property, then Walker Bank still had the ability to foreclose as a junior lien holder. 59 C.J.S., *Mortgages* Section 522 explains the relative rights of the part is:

“As a general rule, the rights of a senior mortgagee or other encumbrancer are not affected by the foreclosure of a junior mortgage; the sale must be made subject to the lien of his mortgage or encumbrance, and he retains the right to enforce it as before.”

Therefore, even if Walker Bank should be held to be a junior lien holder at the time the deficiency judgment was entered, Walker Bank still retained the right as a junior lien holder to foreclose on its junior lien.

POINT IV. THAT THE WALKER BANK DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY HAD PRIORITY OVER ANY INTEREST OF THE RESPONDENTS.

Not only were the interests of Respondents in the subject property extinguished by Walker Bank's foreclosure proceedings, and by Respondents' failure to redeem; but the inerests of Walker Bank in the subject property never ceased throughout the various proceedings. From the date that Walker Bank instituted its foreclosure proceedings, it had retained a superior interest in the property, up to and including the time of sale on the deficiency judgment.

Plaintiffs-Respondents rely heavily on the Oregon court's opinion in *Ulrich v. Lincoln Realty Co.*, *supra*, as authority for the theory that their judgment lien must be superior to the deficiency judgment following the foreclosure sale. However, the holding of the Oregon court specifically excludes the type of situation found in the present case. That court explained that its holding would probably not be applicable in a situation, like the present one, where the judgment creditor—Respondents here—has been made a party to the foreclosure suit.

“One of the consequences of this doctrine is that a party obtaining a judgment against the mortgagor while the foreclosure suit is pending would, in case of redemption by the mortgagor or his grantee, have a lien superior to that of a deficiency judgment rendered in the foreclosure suit. *At least this is true if such judgment creditor has not been made a party to the foreclosure suit.*” *Id.* at 150 (Emphasis added).

In view of the fact that Respondents have specifically been made parties to the foreclosure suit (R 15), the *Ulrich* decision, by its own specific language, is irrelevant to the present situation.

In addition, the Clawsons have previously stipulated in their action with Walker Bank that the interests of Walker Bank in the subject property were superior to those of the Clawsons (R 56). That stipulation is evidence of the fact that the interests of Walker Bank were intended by both Walker Bank and the Clawsons to be superior to any interests claimed by the Clawsons.

Such a relationship would apply not only to the original foreclosure proceedings but also to the deficiency judgment. This court must hold that the superior interest of Walker Bank was retained throughout the deficiency judgment proceedings not only by virtue of the stipulation entered into by the parties, but also by virtue of law. Although Respondents would have the court believe that no jurisdiction recognizes a redemption as reviving the original mortgage lien to the extent of the deficiency, such is simply not the case. *Osborne on Mortgages*, Section 309 (2nd Ed. 1970), states that the authorities hold that after redemption by the mortgagor, "even the lien of the mortgage under which the property was sold revives as to the unpaid deficiency." *Id.* at 642. *Osborne* goes on to state:

"Although the cases holding that redemption revives the original lien under which the property was sold, except to the extent that the purchase price on the sale discharged it, are those involving judgment liens, no distinctions between them and mortgage liens can be upheld. New York is, perhaps, the leading jurisdiction for this doctrine. [citations omitted]" *Id.* at 642, Note 63.

Several New York decisions support the position that a redemption by the mortgagor revives the original mortgage lien to the extent of the deficiency. In *Matter of Hunter v. Seery*, 206 App. Div 19 (1923), the court held that where the land sold for a sum which did not satisfy the judgment, the redemption by a subsequent grantee of the owner from the purchaser at the execution sale restored the lien of the judgment, and that the

land might be sold again to satisfy that judgment. In *Titus v. Lewis*, 3 Barb. (N.Y.) 70, 72 (1848), the court held that:

“By the very terms of this enactment, the redemption under the first sale rendered that sale null and void, and, by necessary consequence, there having been no sale in law, there was no extinguishment of the judgment lien upon the premises.”

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