2001

James G. Clawson and Joan M. Clawson, his wife;
Tex R. Olsen and Moona Lee Olsen, his wife; and
Ken Chamberlain and Jeannine W. Chamberlain,
his wife v. Bruce L. Moesser and Ruth Anne
Moesser, husband and wife : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

We do not necessarily address Appellants' arguments in the order presented in their brief because, as we will demonstrate, the considerations in Point I following treat the exclusive point of significance. These considerations are only discussed fleetingly near the end of Appellants' brief.

POINT I.

ONCE THE PROPERTY HAS BEEN SOLD ON A MORTGAGE FORECLOSURE AND REDEEMED FROM THAT SALE, THE MORTGAGEE CANNOT COMPEL A SECOND SALE FOR A DEFICIENCY WHERE THE PROPERTY HAS PASSED FROM THE MORTGAGOR TO A PERSON NOT LIABLE ON THE MORTGAGE DEBT.

This case involves a single issue of law. If the Court adopts our statement of Point I then nothing elsewhere in this or in Appellants' brief requires consideration. Every jurisdiction treating this issue in the western United States (where the equivalent of Utah's statutes on foreclosure, execution and redemption has been extensively borrowed from California's early civil code) agrees with the proposition we have stated at the heading of this point.

REVENUE

Utah's first code, the Revised Statutes of 1898, reflects in Sections 3261 and 3262 that they were borrowed from California's Code of Civil Procedure, Sections 701 and 702. These sections of Utah's Revised Statutes of 1898, materially and effectively unchanged, are carried into Rule 69(f)(1) through (4) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

The Supreme Court of the State of California in the 1878 case of *Simpson vs. Castle*, 52 Cal. 644 (prior to P2d), interpreting its Code of Civil Procedure, Sections 701 and 702, held that a successor in interest of a judgment debtor takes free and clear of the mortgage lien where the property has been sold and then redeemed from sale. Cited and followed extensively, that rule has never been modified (*Salsbery vs. Ritter*, 48 Cal. 2d 1, 306 P2d 897) [1957].

The State of Utah, having borrowed those statutes after *Simpson vs. Castle* was decided, should be presumed to have adopted also the construction placed upon it by the Court of the author state. *Donahue vs. Warner Bros.*, 2 U2d 256, 272 P2d 177. See also 82 CJS p. 860, *Statutes*, Sec. 372.

But aside from that rule of statutory construction, there are compelling, logical and persuasive considerations of public policy which galvanize soundness of the *Castle* rule.

The Montana Supreme Court in *McQueeney vs. Toomey*, 36 Mont. 282, 92 P 561, adopted the *Simpson vs. Castle* rule saying:

Our code provisions are, in substance, and almost word for word, like those of California which had been construed there before their adoption here, and we took them with the interpretation placed upon them by the Supreme Court of California.

The Nevada Supreme Court has been the last to speak on this subject and held in *Kaye vs. United Mortgage Co.*, 466 P2d 848, 86 Nev. 183 (1970):

Since Nevada statutory provisions governing redemption are identical in all material respects to California Code provisions, we are persuaded, as was Montana, to follow relevant case authority. For almost a century it has been the law of California that when the right to redeem has been exercised by a successor in interest to the judgment debtor, title is vested in such successor free of the lien created by the judgment. [Citing California cases from 1878 to 1967].

This rule serves to promote one of the primary purposes of statutory redemption in forcing the purchaser at execution sale to bid in the property at a price approximating its fair value. [Citing *Salsbery vs. Ritter*, 48 Cal. 2d 1, 306 P2d 897 (1957)].

In *Damascus Milk Co. vs. Morriss*, 463 P2d 212, 1 Wash. App. 501, the Appellate Division of Washington adopted the same reasoning and the same result.

Oregon has developed the same conclusion in a series of widely cited decisions beginning with *Flanders vs. Aumack*, 32 Ore. 19, 51 P 447, holding that once a mortgage has operated to produce a sale of the premises it (the mortgage) has fully spent its force, and coming down to the celebrated case of *Ulrich vs. Lincoln Realty Co.*, 175 P2d 149, 180 Ore. 380, which holds:

It has long been the rule of this state that in a mortgage foreclosure suit, when the decree is had and the property sold to satisfy it, the mortgagee has obtained all he contracted for. As this Court said in *Flanders vs. Aumack*, 32 Ore. 19, 51 P 447, "A redemption will not reinstate a specific mortgage lien".

The *Ulrich* case offers the legally distinguishing statement that if the real property is still in the hands of the mortgagor when a deficiency judgment is entered then the lien of that deficiency would attach to the property once more, with which we cannot but agree. However, the Court adds:

* * * but if the lien of the personal judgment has never attached by reason of the mortgagor not having the fee of the property at the time it was rendered, there never existed any lien to be re-instated against the successor in interest who purchased prior to the decree (175 P2d at p. 150).

Neither Clawson nor his successors in interest signed the Walker Bank Trust Deed; none was obligated on the indebtedness secured thereby (R. 46-48).

To examine the history of Utah's redemption statute will disclose that in the Revised Statutes of Utah, 1898, by Sections 3261 through 3263, Utah borrowed word for word California Code of Civil Procedure, Sections 701 through 703. Those Utah sections were carried into Title 104-37-30 of the Utah Codes of 1933 and 1943 from Sections 6941-6943 of the 1917 Revised Statutes, and have not been in any material way altered through adoption of the 1951 Judicial Code and promulgation of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure where those provisions were then substantially and without any change in meaning or effect embodied in Rule 69(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Thus Utah still has the old California Code of Civil Procedure, Sections 701 *et seq.*

The landmark and consistently followed California case of *Simpson vs. Castle* (supra) draws this conclusion:

[*Discussing California Code of Civil Procedure Sections 701-703*]

In case of a redemption by the judgment-debtor or mortgagor, the effect of the sale is extinguished and the statute declares he is restored to his estate in the land, which then, *for the first time*, becomes subject to the lien of the unsatisfied portion of the judgment. This lien attaches then because the effect of the sale has been extinguished, and the mortgagor or the judgment-debtor is the owner of the estate as though no sale had been made. But if he had conveyed his interest in the land before redemption and his grantee had redeemed, no interest remained in the mortgagor or judgment-debtor on which the lien could operate unless it be on the theory that the unsatisfied portion of the judgment was a lien on the land before the redemption and the grantee of the mortgagor or judgment-debtor took his conveyance subject to that lien—a theory which finds no support in the statute. [emphasis added]

Clawson's case is even stronger. He had acquired fee title *before* the foreclosure proceedings were ever commenced by Walker Bank.

Michigan Law Review, Volume XXIII, No. 8, June 1925, contains a learned treatise by a professor and a graduate entitled "Redemption from Foreclosure Sale and the Uniform Mortgage Act". At page 851 the authors observe:

We have seen that the principal purpose of the redemption statute, and the only purpose which it serves in a superior way, is the encouragement

of adequate bidding at the sale. Obviously this purpose is defeated by holding that liens are revived, or that a deficiency decree will effectively charge the land. Putting ourselves again in the position of the senior lienor on the eve of his sale, we see that he might reason that a purchase by him at a bargain price would be advantageous if no redemption took place, and that it would do him no harm if redemption were made by the owner. Furthermore, the revival of liens must tend to discourage redemption by the owner, thus diminishing the threat from this preferred bidder. Clearly a better psychological effect upon lienors would be produced by a rule that redemption by the owner does not revive liens but contrariwise, unless the redemptioner be personally liable, will put the land wholly beyond their reach. Nor would this be unfair to lienors, for they cannot reasonably have expected, unless the statute has promised it to them, any more than the proceeds of a single sale of the property* * * *

[The senior lienor] is the likeliest bidder and he should be subjected to pressure to bid the property up to its value, at least to the amount of his lien. *Hence, his lien should be extinguished.*

In *Chicago-Kent Law Review*, Volume 121, beginning at page 202, there is a discussion of the law of Illinois, specifically the decision in *Johnson vs. Zahn*, 380 Ill. 320, 44 NE2d 15. That case holds that the purchaser of a mortgagor's interest (even in a purchase made after foreclosure sale and deficiency decree) takes, upon redemption, the property free from any encumbrance by reason of the deficiency decree.

The note observes that the result is not unexpected and is desirable from the standpoint of settled law and

from fairness in protecting the rights of debtor as well as junior lienholders and, above all, purchasers from the mortgagor.

In Volume 27 (1948) of the *Oregon Law Review*, beginning at page 139, there is an extensive note and comment on the effect of redemption, tracing the history of Oregon Supreme Court decisions. The conclusion reached is that even though Oregon has a *statute* which provides that in an execution sale, as opposed to a mortgage foreclosure sale, the judgment will subsist as a lien to the extent of any deficiency, nevertheless a mortgage is a voluntarily contracted obligation and when the mortgagee has compelled one sale he has obtained all he contracted to receive. The note concludes (page 148):

The effect of foreclosure and sale is to extinguish the mortgage lien; therefore, when the mortgagor redeems, the redeemed lands will not be subject to that particular lien.

In *Lightcap vs. Bradley* (1900, 186 Ill. 510, 58 NE 221, the Court said:

It is true that if the premises are redeemed by the mortgagor they become like any other property owned by him and may be subject to execution for sale on a deficiency; but that is because they belong to the debtor and not on account of any lien by virtue of the mortgage. A redemption by any person not liable for the debt would free them absolutely, so that they could not even be levied upon by execution for a deficiency.

In *Makibben vs. Arndt*, 88 Ky. 180, 10 SW 642, the Court said:

Petitioner (a mortgagee holding a deficiency judgment) contends that redemption from the sale left the unsatisfied portion of his judgment in full force against the property. This contention is based upon the fact that the statute declares the sale "null and void" from the time of redemption. We cannot assent to it. His lien was of *contract*. The legal title to the property was merely in pledge to him for payment of his debt and in pledge for what it might bring, merely, when sold. * * * he cannot sell, resell, and sell again * * *. The redemption is the recovery of the legal title. The mortgage lien ceases to exist whenever the sale is made enforcing it. * * * The parties to the mortgage contract understand at its inception that the property is liable to be sold once by virtue of it; and it is not for a court to make a contract for them of greater continuing force. Its right and power to sell is based upon the mortgage lien alone and one exercise of that power is an exhaustion of it.

Using almost the same language is *Fields vs. Danenhower*, 65 Ark. 392, 46 SW 938, 43 LRA 519, which makes the pertinent observation that if the mortgage lien survived (as Defendants here claim it should) then how would it be consistent for the mortgagee to have a general execution on *all* of the mortgagor's property for his deficiency judgment, because the mortgage foreclosure would never be complete and there is never a right to a deficiency judgment until it has been determined how much the property will bring at foreclosure sale.

This (the Arkansas) rule falls precisely within Utah's specific mortgage foreclosure procedure statute, 78-27-2 UCA 1953, and the cases annotated thereunder. One such case is the *Haymond* decision which we now discuss.

The Utah Supreme Court has never been precisely confronted with the entire issue presented in this case, but on various ingredients of it which have come before it, this Court has been uniformly in accord with the view expressed by California, Oregon, Washington, Montana, Nevada, Illinois, Kentucky, and Arkansas. For example, in *First National Bank vs. Haymond*, 89 U. 158, 57 P2d 1401 (1936) this Court not only held that the mortgaged property must be sold and the proceeds derived from the sale thereof applied to the payment of the obligation before a deficiency judgment may be entered against any of those liable for payment of the debt, but also held:

If the property does not sell for enough to discharge the debt secured, deficiency judgment must be docketed by the clerk for such deficiency against the persons liable for the payment of the obligation if personally served with summons, and execution may issue for such deficiency as in the case of other judgments.

Thus, *the trial court has finished its duties with respect to foreclosure proceedings when the decree of foreclosure and the order of sale are entered.* (Emphasis added)

* * * *

To require the mortgagee to accept the mortgaged property in lieu of the money which the mortgagors have agreed to pay would be to make a contract for the parties contrary to their agreement. This the courts may not do. (Cf. *Ulrich vs. Lincoln Realty*, 175 P2d 199, in which it is held that when a mortgagee has had the property sold for the amount of the mortgage debt and has been willing to accept the amount thus bid, even though

it might be less than the total indebtedness, the mortgagee has received all he contracted for in the mortgage.)

The Haymond case goes on to say that provisions of the Utah Law are calculated to protect from injury the mortgagor and others who may have an interest in the property:

If the mortgagee or other purchaser bids in the property for less than its value, such mortgagee or purchaser may be *deprived of all anticipated profit by redemption.*

Walker Bank, when it caused the clerk to issue an Execution on February 12, 1973, was well aware that its mortgage (or Trust Deed) had spent its force. If Walker Bank had been proceeding, or had intended to proceed, in the continuation of its specific mortgage lien, it would have obtained from the Court an "Order of Sale" or a "Special Execution" as required by Section 78-37-1 UCA 1953, which provides, in the last sentence:

* * * and a Special Execution or Order of Sale shall be issued for that purpose.

And a "Special Execution" is an Order of Sale directed to specifically described property (*Words and Phrases*, Vol. 39A, p. 211).

Walker Bank was cautious to avoid any attempt to revive or resurrect its mortgage (R. 25, 26).

The Federal Circuit Court case of *Barry vs. Harnesberger* (CCA 7th 148 F. 346) held in a mortgage foreclosure case under a statute of Illinois that the lien of a

deficiency could not attach until the property was sold, that the redemption having "destroyed the lien of the mortgage" the lien of the *deficiency judgment* "could only attach to the property of the original mortgagors, whose interest in the land was terminated, of course, with their conveyance to the appellants".

As all these authorities declare, the lien must attach to property in the name of the judgment debtor at a time when he holds title to the subject property. This condition never did obtain in the Walker Bank deficiency judgment proceedings under which Moessers claim to have acquired their interests.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT NEITHER SPAULDING'S REDEMPTION NOR THE THEORY OF CONTINUATION OF WALKER BANK'S LIEN GAVE THE SHERIFF ANYTHING TO SELL TO MOESSER.

Since the several points stated by Appellant are all effectively disposed of if this Court follows the rule well established by the foregoing decisions, we have elected to treat all four of those points subordinately within this Point II, and as sub-headings (A) through (D).

(A) THE FORECLOSURE PROCEEDINGS OF WALKER BANK DID NOT DISCHARGE ANY RIGHTS OF CLAWSON IN THE PROPERTY.

This misapprehension pervasive throughout Defendants' brief is that Clawson was a "junior lienholder" or in some way a lien claimant having an encumbrance or

claim on the title subordinate to Walker Bank. This is simply contrary to the facts: Clawson was the owner of the land; subject only to the lien of Walker Bank's Trust Deed. (See table at page 6).

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